A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Judy R. Deggs, personal representative of the Estate of 

Ray Sundberg, asks this Court to review the decision designated in part 2. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals issued its published split decision on June 

22, 2015. A copy of that decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through 

A-27. 

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Where a person is exposed to asbestos and subsequently contracts 

asbestos-related diseases, sues the various defendants responsible for his 

or her exposure, and recovers against many of those defendants by 

settlement of judgment, does the separate statutory wrongful death claim 

under RCW 4.20.010 accrue for purposes of the statute of limitations in 

RCW 4.16.080 upon the claimant's exposure to asbestos or when that 

claimant dies? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Deggs does not take issue with the statement of the facts in the 

Court of Appeals opinion. Op. at 2-3.1 

1 The majority opinion suggests that Sundberg recovered a judgment against 
ACL. Op at 2. That is mistaken. Sundberg settled with a number of defendants, CP 636-
38, and then recovered a judgment after a trial against AC&S. CP 633-35. 
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Deggs does note, however, that two important facts not mentioned 

in the Court of Appeals' opinion bear emphasis. First, asbestos is a known 

cause of many of malignancies as well as non-malignant diseases. Not 

only is there a long latency period between the time of exposure to 

asbestos and the experience of symptoms by its victims, but such diseases 

can linger for many years. Walston v. Boeing Co., 181 Wn.2d 391, 401-

02, 334 P.3d 519 (2014) ("Asbestos is one of the most notorious of 

hazardous substances injuring workers in cases brought into our courts. In 

addition to a long latency period, asbestos-related injuries are continuous, 

progressive, and cumulative. Each exposure builds on the last and can 

lead to any number of injuries at any given point in time including 

shortness ofbreath, asbestosis, mesothelioma, lung cancer, or a number of 

other late-appearing cancers."); Lockwood v. AC&S, Inc., 109 Wn.2d 234, 

239 n.2, 744 P.2d 605 (1987) (recognizing long latency period for 

asbestosis and establishing relaxed causation standard in asbestos 

exposure cases). As a result, many asbestos victims like Ray Sundberg 

file an action for asbestos-related personal injuries while they are alive.2 

With respect to such cases, settlement agreements often do not release the 

claims such tort claimants' estates may have for statutory wrongful death. 

2 Sundberg contracted asbestosis, pleural disease, colon cancer, and lymphoma 
as a result of exposure to the respondents' products. 
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The claimants' estates subsequently file a wrongful death action under 

RCW 4.20.010 when those victims of asbestos exposure eventually die 

from their asbestos-caused disease. 3 

Here, Sundberg filed a personal injury action on August 20, 1999 

in the King County Superior Court and that case was settled in 2002. 

Sundberg died in 2010. Sundberg's estate, through Deggs as the personal 

representative, filed the present action on July 3, 2012 involving both 

statutory survival and wrongful death claims.4 It is essentially undisputed 

that only a personal representative of an estate may commence an RCW 

4.20.010 wrongful death action. Sundberg's personal representative could 

not be appointed until his death. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

(1) Introduction 

The Court of Appeals decision itself evidences precisely why this 

Court should grant review under RAP 13 .4(b ). Three experienced judges 

of that court are profoundly split on the precise meaning of three older 

cases of this Court on the statute of limitations for a wrongful death claim. 

3 This is particularly true for mesothelioma, an asbestos- related cancer that is 
invariably fatal. Macias v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 175 Wn.2d 402, 406, 282 P.3d 
1069 (2012) (describing mesothelioma as "a deadly type of cancer associated with 
asbestos exposure); Payne v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 147 Wn. App. 17, 22, 190 P.3d 
102 (2008) (describing mesothelioma as "an invariably fatal cancer closely linked with 
prior asbestos exposure.") Mesothelioma cases are common in our courts. 

4 The only issue here is the statutory claim under RCW 4.20.010. The statutory 
survival action under RCW 4.20.046/.060 is not at issue. 
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The majority and dissenting opinions also reflect that a local 

experienced federal trial court judge was similarly perplexed by the state 

of this Court's jurisprudence; he arrived at a decision that was contrary to 

the Court of Appeals majority opinion. 

The Restatement (Second) of Torts and high courts in our sister 

western states of California, Idaho, Nevada, Montana, and most recently, 

Utah, reject the Court of Appeals majority's analysis of similar wrongful 

death statutes. 

Ultimately, this Court should grant revtew because its older 

jurisprudence on the application of the statute of limitations for claims 

under RCW 4.20.010 conflicts with more recent decisions of this Court on 

the nature of statutory wrongful death claims. Moreover, the logic of 

those older cases and that of the Court of Appeals majority is flawed: 

somehow, claimants must pursue a statutory wrongful death claim before 

the victim dies, and before a personal representative is appointed, in order 

to avoid the bar of the statute of limitations. The Court of Appeals dissent 

referred to this notion as "topsy-turvy land." Dissent at 1. 5 

Finally, the question of the accrual of such asbestos-related 

wrongful death claims commonly anses and will be recurrent, 

5 Similarly, the Court of Appeals in Willis v. Kirkpatrick, 56 Wn. App. 757, 
762, 785 P.2d 834, review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1024 (1990) described such a result as 
"illogical and unjust." This plain inequity renders the notion that Grant rests on an 
"equitable" ground highly suspect. Dissent at 7-8. 
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necessitating an ultimate resolution by this Court; the issue has already 

arisen in at least two divisions of the Court of Appeals. There is an 

appreciable risk of contradictory results in those divisions that this Court 

can readily resolve. Review is merited under RAP 13.4(b). 

(2) The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts With This Court's 
Decisions on the Nature of the Statutory Claim for 
Wrongful Death- RAP 13.4(b)(l) 

The core flaw in the Court of Appeals majority opinion is its belief 

that Deggs' claim under RCW 4.20.010 on behalf of the Estate is 

somehow derivative of Ray Sundberg's personal injuries claims for 

exposure to the respondents' asbestos products. That flaw animates its 

analysis and is contrary to this Court's recent teachings on the nature of a 

claim under RCW 4.20.010. 

A careful analysis ofthe nature of claims under RCW 4.20.010 and 

the interpretive principles for analyzing that statute is essential to this 

Court's review decision. 

First, this Court explicitly stated in Johnson v. Ottomeier, 45 

Wn.2d 419, 423, 275 P.2d 723 (1954) and Gray v. Goodson, 61 Wn.2d 

319, 324, 378 P.2d 413 (1963) that the wrongful death statute is remedial 

in nature and is to be liberally construed. The Court of Appeals majority 

fails to take this key interpretive principle into account. 
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Second, a wrongful death action is entirely a creature of statute. 

Dodson v. Continental Can Co., 159 Wash. 589, 595-97, 294 Pac. 265 

(1930); Atchison v. Great Western Malting Co., 161 Wn.2d 372, 376, 166 

P .3d 662 (2007). The terms of that statute thus control. !d. Nothing in 

that statute's language evidences any intent that the claim under RCW 

4.20.010 is in any way derivative of the underlying personal injuries 

action of the tort claimant;6 rather, it is a distinct statutory cause of action. 

Grant v. Fisher Flour Mills, 181 Wash. 576, 580, 44 P.2d 193 (1932); 

Gray, 61 Wn.2d at 325; Warner v. McCaughan, 77 Wn.2d 178, 179, 460 

P.2d 272 (1969). 7 

Under the specific terms ofRCW 4.20.010, the claim may only be 

brought by the personal representative of the estate of the person tortiously 

killed. Atchison, 161 Wn.2d at 376.8 The statutory claim does not belong 

6 The majority opinion concedes that RCW 4.20.010 is silent on whether the 
expiration of the statute of limitation on the claimant's underlying personal injuries 
claims, or a settlement or judgment on such claims bars a wrongful death action under 
RCW 4.20.010. Op. at 4-5; dissent at 3-4. This Court should not imply a condition to a 
RCW 4.20.010 statutory claim that the Legislature did not see fit to impose. 

Similarly, if, as the dissent notes at 5-7, this Court is actually articulating a 
statute of repose analysis in its older cases, RCW 4.20.010 nowhere evidences such an 
intent to create a statute of repose. Dissent at 6-7. 

7 This is in stark contrast to the statutory survival actions authorized by RCW 
4.20.046 and RCW 4.20.060 that are derivative of the tort claimant's personal injuries 
claims. Parrish v. Jones, 44 Wn. App. 449, 454-55, 722 P.2d 878 (1986) ("the survival 
statute continues the cause of action of the decedent for the damages which the decedent 
could have claimed had the death not occurred."). 

8 RCW 4.20.010 states: 
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to the decedent, but to the decedent's heirs and next of kin. Warner, 77 

Wn.2d at 179. Obviously, a personal representative can only be appointed 

once a will is admitted to probate upon a person's death or a person dies 

intestate. The tort claimant's death is a condition precedent to a claim 

under RCW 4.20.010. 

Decisions of the Court of Appeals also emphasize that the 

decedent's death is an essential prerequisite to a wrongful death claim. 

Nelson v. Schubert, 98 Wn. App. 754, 759-61, 994 P.2d 225 (2000) 

(holding the plaintiff had no legal right to pursue wrongful death claim 

until decedent daughter had been missing for seven years, when the 

statutory presumption of death arose). Similarly, in Wills, supra, the 

defendant argued that the decedent's personal representative should be 

barred from pursuing a wrongful death claim. The defendant reasoned 

that if the decedent had lived, her claim for personal injuries would have 

been barred under the medical malpractice statute of limitations. The 

court there rejected this argument, ruling that the wrongful death statute of 

limitations applied exclusively because the medical malpractice statute 

referred only to "personal injury." The Court held that the statute of 

When the death of a person is caused by the wrongful act, neglect, or 
default of another his or her personal representative may maintain an 
action for damages against the person causing the death; and although 
the death shall have been caused under such circumstances as amount, 
in law, to a felony. 

(emphasis added). RCW 4.20.020 specifies the beneficiaries of this action. 
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limitations began to run at the date of death, not the date of the underlying 

harm to avoid the injustice of a claim being barred before it could even be 

brought. 56 Wn. App. at 762-63. 

Consistent with the proposition that RCW 4.20.010 is a distinct, 

independent cause of action is the fact that the damages recoverable under 

the statute are distinct from those recoverable in the underlying personal 

injuries action. Bowers v. Fiberboard Corp., 66 Wn. App. 454, 460-61, 

832 P.2d 523, review denied, 120 Wn.2d 1017 (1992); 6 Wash. Practice, 

Wash. Pattern Jury Instructions/Civil at 329-65 (WPI for wrongful 

death/survivor claims).9 

Finally, because an RCW 4.20.010 is a distinct, non-derivative 

claim, it does not accrue at least until the death of the person tortiously 

killed. 10 Atchison, 161 Wn.2d at 3 78-79 ("the rule is well settled: 

wrongful death actions accrue at the time of death"); Dodson, 159 Wash. 

at 592-99. In fact, the discovery rule applies to asbestos-related claims 

precisely because of their long latency period so that the cause of action 

9 The standard WPI for wrongful death and survivor claims effectively lay to 
rest the fears expressed by the Court of Appeal majority and dissent regarding a risk of 
double recovery. Op. at 16; dissent at 9-10. 

10 This has long been the rule in Washington. Nestelle v. Northern Pac. R. Co., 
56 F. 261, 262 (9th Cir. 1893); Rentz v. Spokane County, 438 F. Supp.2d 1252, 1258 
(E.D. Wash. 2006). As the dissent notes at 4, the statute of limitations does not 
commence to run until the cause of action accrues and the party may apply to the courts 
for relief. 
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under RCW 4.20.010 does not accrue until the personal representative 

knew or should have known all of the essential elements of the claim, 

including that the decedent died as a result of exposure to asbestos, as this 

Court held in White v. Johns Manville Corp., 103 Wn.2d 344, 352-53, 693 

P.2d 687 (1985). 11 

Despite the clear rule in Washington that death is a condition 

precedent to the accrual of a wrongful death claim, the respondents argued 

three old decisions of this Court, Grant, supra, Calhoun v. Washington 

Veneer Co., 170 Wash. 152, 15 P.2d 943 (1932), and Johnson, supra, 

supported their contention that Deggs' wrongful death action was 

untimely. The Court of Appeals majority largely adopted the respondents' 

reading of those cases. Op. at 5-12. Neither case dictates this result, as 

the Court of Appeals dissent cogently observed. 

Dodson, an en bane decision of this Court, clearly concluded that a 

wrongful death cause of action accrues upon the death of the tortfeasor' s 

victim. 159 Wash. at 598-99. Grant, a departmental decision, 12 stated 

that wrongful death actions typically accrue on the date of death, but then 

stated that this rule is "subject to a well recognized limitation; namely, at 

11 The statutory limitation period is three years from the accrual of the wrongful 
death claim. RCW 4.16.080(2); Atchison, 161 Wn.2d at 377; Dodson, 159 Wash. at 592. 

12 Prior to the creation of the Court of Appeals in 1969, as this Court knows, the 
Court often issued decisions by departments of the Court, reserving en bane consideration 
for only the most important of its decisions. 
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the time of death there must be a subsisting cause of action in the 

deceased." 181 Wash. at 581. This statement, read in context, simply 

means that the decedent must have a preserved claim for the preexisting 

injury. !d. The Grant court held that the worker's claims were not time

barred. 

In Calhoun, another department decision, this Court held that the 

statute of limitations for claims personal to the decedent began to run on 

the date of the injury that ultimately caused the death and/or the date of the 

negligent act. 170 Wash. at 160. However, a careful reading of Calhoun 

reveals that the personal representative's wrongful death claim did not 

accrue until the death, but that because the decedent had not preserved his 

right to sue for the preexisting injury, the Court concluded that the 

wrongful death claim must be dismissed. !d. Also, that ruling was at odds 

with the en bane Dodson court's determination that a wrongful death 

statutory claim accrued at the time of death. Dodson, 159 Wash. at 589. 

The Johnson court only mentioned Calhoun and Grant in passing 

as they were irrelevant to the Court's analysis. In that case, this Court 

applied the accrual rule consistent with the interpretation advanced by 

Deggs. There, a husband murdered his wife and then committed suicide. 

Under the common law in Washington as it then existed, the wife had no 

cause of action in tort because of interspousal tort immunity. Despite the 
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fact that the decedent there could not pursue an underlying personal 

injuries claim at all, this Court held that the wife's estate had a distinct 

claim under RCW 4.20.010 against the husband's estate for wrongful 

death. 13 The Johnson court seemingly ignored the prime analytical point 

of Grant that the statute of limitations had run on the decedent's 

underlying personal injuries claim so that the RCW 4.20.010 statutory 

claim was barred. 14 

In tracing the impact of these decisions, this Court should also take 

cognizance of the recent decision by Judge James Robarts in Barabin v. 

Asten Johnson, Inc., 2014 WL 2938457 (W.D. Wash. 2014). Judge 

Robarts observed that the issue of the accrual of a wrongful death cause of 

action under RCW 4.20.010 is unsettled under Washington law: 

The court concludes that, although Defendants may well ultimately 
prove to have a viable statute of limitations defense, this defense is 
by no means obvious according to the settled rules of Washington 
State. See Ritchey, 139 F.3d at 1319. The few published cases 
defendants have marshaled to support their theory are outdated: 
they were decided 85, 82, and 60 years ago. See Calhoun, 15 P .2d 
at 946; Grant, 44 P.2d at 195; Johnson, 275 P.2d at 725. Of the 
three, only Grant addresses the issue squarely. The language in 
Johnson is dicta, and therefore not controlling. 275 P.2d at 725. 
Both Calhoun and Grant were decided in the context of now
repealed employment laws such as the "Factory Act" and without 

13 The Court of Appeals majority criticizes Deggs' reading of Johnson, op. at 
II, drawing a distinction between claims "extinguished" by a statute of limitations, and 
the removal of what it describes as a "personal disability." The point, however, is that 
whether a statute of limitations or a common law immunity, the claim in the underlying 
personal injuries action in Johnson as here was foreclosed. 

14 Arguably, this Court overruled Grant sub silentio in Johnson. 
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the benefit of the current wrongful death statute, RCW 4.20.010. 
See Calhoun, 15 P.2d at 946; Grant, 44 P.2d at 195. 

Most importantly, rather than following Grant, the Washington 
Supreme Court has since stated that the time at which a wrongful 
death claim accrues to a decedent who was aware of his personal 
injury claim is an open question. Specifically, in evaluating the 
application of the discovery rule to wrongful death claims, the 
Washington Supreme Court clarified: 

[W)e are not faced with, nor do we decide a case in which 
the deceased is alleged by the defendant to have known the 
cause of the disease which subsequently caused his death. 
In that case there is a question as to whether the wrongful 
death action of the deceased's representative "accrued" at 
the time of the decedent's death, when the decedent first 
discovered or should have discovered the injury, or when 
the claimant first discovered or should have discovered the 
cause of death. 

White, 693 P .2d at 690. 15 Inasmuch as defendants have failed to 
identify a single published opinion since White concerning this 
issue, it appears that the issue remains unresolved. 

!d. at *3-4. 16 

In sum, this Court needs to resolve a conflict among its decisions 

on the wrongful death statute of limitations. First, the departmental 

decisions in Grant and Calhoun conflict with the en bane Court's decision 

in Dodson and with this Court's more recent discussion of wrongful death 

claims in cases like White and Atchison. Indeed, the fundamental concept 

15 This Court's decision in White referenced Dodson, but nowhere even 
mentioned Grant or Calhoun. 

16 Judge Robarts even indicated that certification of the issue to this Court might 
be appropriate. !d. at *4. 
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of a discovery rule in asbestos cases as announced in White is at odds with 

the harsh rule adopted in dicta in Grant. The rule in Grant makes a 

wrongful death action under RCW 4.20.010 derivative of the decedent's 

underlying personal injuries claims, a principle repeatedly rejected by this 

Court. 17 

Finally, as indicated by Judge Dwyer, the practical anomaly of 

requiring a personal injury claimant, not yet deceased, to include a claim 

for wrongful death under RCW 4.20.010, a claim that can only be brought 

by a personal representative who is not yet appointed (and cannot be 

appointed), is glaring. Only this Court can authoritatively resolve this 

inconsistency in its decisions. 

(3) The Issue Here Is One of Significant Public Importance
RAP 13.4(b)(4) 

(a) If the Court of Appeals Majority Is Correct in Its 
Interpretation of the Accrual of a Wrongful Death 
Claim, This Court Should Overrule the Cases and 
Adopt a More Sensible View of that Issue 

If the Court of Appeals majority has correctly interpreted this 

Court's precedents (although Deggs believes it has not), this Court should 

overrule Grant, Calhoun, and Johnson. This Court generally follows 

17 The Court of Appeals majority opinion consciously connects the RCW 
4.20.010 claim to the claimant's underlying personal injuries action. Op. at 2, 12-13. The 
majority further re-enforces this connection when it speaks of the "revival" of a wrongful 
death claim, op. at 17, implying that an RCW 4.20.010 is merely a later continuation of 
the underlying personal injuries claim. 
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principles of stare decisis. In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek, 77 

Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970). But the common law must 

necessarily evolve and when a common law principle is incorrect and 

harmful, it should be abandoned. See, e.g., Davis v. Baugh Construction

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