RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Aug 07, 2015, 2:39 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 91969-1 Court of Appeals Cause No. 71297-7-I RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JUDY R. DEGGS, as Personal Representative for the Estate of RAY GORDON SUNDBERG, deceased,

Appellant,

٧.

ASBESTOS CORPORATION LIMITED, et al.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS ASBESTOS CORPORATION LIMITED, INGERSOLL RAND COMPANY, AND ASTENJOHNSON INC.'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark B. Tuvim, WSBA #31909 Kevin J. Craig, WSBA #29932 Counsel for Respondents Asbestos Corporation Limited and Ingersoll Rand Company

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

- A. There Is No Conflict Among Washington Appellate Decisions.
 - 1. This Court Already Decided That When the Statute of Limitations on a Decedent's Personal Injury Claims Has Expired Before Death, There Is No Viable Wrongful Death Action.

Petitioner premises her petition upon the faulty premise that there is a conflict among Washington appellate authorities where none exists. Under well-settled Washington law, when decedents have no valid cause of action at the time of death – such as when they have released their claims, obtained a judgment, or allowed the statute of limitations to expire during their lifetime – this similarly bars a personal representative from asserting an action under the wrongful death statute. Calhoun v. Washington Veneer Co., 170 Wn. 152, 159-60, 15 P.2d 943 (1932); accord Johnson v. Ottomeier, 45 Wn.2d 419, 422-23, 275 P.2d 723 (1954); Grant v. Fisher Flouring Mills Co., 181 Wn. 576, 44 P.2d 193 (1935). As the Court of Appeals properly noted, Washington's wrongful death statute, formerly codified as Rem. Comp. Stat. § 183 and now codified as RCW 4.20.010 and RCW 4.20.020, has not changed in any material way since its enactment in 1917. Compare 1917 Sess. Laws ch. 123, §§ 1-4 and Rem. Comp. Stat. § 183 with RCW 4.20.010 (adding gender-neutral language and a comma) and RCW 4.20.020 (adding adult

brothers, stepchildren, and domestic partners as possible statutory beneficiaries). "The weight of authority in other jurisdictions, unsurprisingly, reaches the same result."

This Court previously decided the exact issue raised by Petitioner in *Calhoun*, which remains binding precedent. In *Calhoun*, the decedent was allegedly injured by exposure to a toxic substance while working at the defendant's factory. *Id.* at 153-57. The decedent, however, failed to bring a personal injury action until after the three-year statute of limitations triggered by his last exposure had expired. *Id.* The decedent passed away shortly after filing the personal injury action, and his spouse, as the estate's personal representative, filed an amended complaint to add a claim under the wrongful death statute based on the same exposure as the decedent's personal injury action. *Id.* Even though the personal representative's claims for wrongful death, "of course, had not accrued at the time the original complaint was filed," this Court held that the applicable three-year statute of limitations barred not only the decedent's

Russell v. Ingersoll-Rand Co., 841 S.W.2d 343, 352 (Tex. 1992) (surveying other states' law and concluding that the majority rule is that "if a decedent's action would be barred by limitations, then so would a wrongful death action"); see, e.g., Flynn v. New York, 283 U.S. 53, 56 (1931) (applying same rule to federal statute); Michigan Central R.R. Co. v. Vreeland, 227 U.S. 59, 70 (1913) ("[I]t has been generally held that [a wrongful death] action is a right dependent upon the existence of a right in the decedent immediately before his death to have maintained an action for his wrongful injury.").

untimely personal injury action but also the personal representative's claim under the wrongful death statute. *Id*.

This Court subsequently re-affirmed *Calhoun* in *Grant v. Fisher Flouring Mills Co.*, 181 Wn. 576, 44 P.2d 193 (1935). In *Grant*, the decedent had been injured when exposed to hazardous fumes while working at defendant's facility. *Id.* at 576-77. But unlike *Calhoun* (or Decedent in this case), the decedent brought his personal injury action before the three-year statute of limitations had expired. *Id.* at 577, 582. After the decedent passed away but while the personal injury action was still pending, his personal representative was substituted as the plaintiff and amended the complaint to add a wrongful death claim against the same defendants. *Id.* at 577. The issue on appeal was whether the statute of limitations barred the wrongful death claim even though the decedent had a viable personal injury claim at the time of his death. *Id.* at 577-78.

While acknowledging that a wrongful death cause of action generally accrues at the time of death, this Court held that the right to a wrongful death action is still subject to a "well-recognized limitation" that the decedent must have a cause of action at the time of death:

The action for wrongful death, under [now RCW 4.20.010 -.020], is a distinct and separate action from the survival action, under section 194. In accord with the great weight of authority, this court has held that the action accrues at the time of death, and that the statute of

limitations then begins to run. The rule, however, is subject to a well-recognized limitation; namely, at the time of death there must be a subsisting cause of action in the deceased. Tiffany, Death by Wrongful Act (2d Ed.) § 124. Under this limitation, it has been held that the action for wrongful death is extinguished by an effective release executed by the deceased in his lifetime (Brodie v. Washington Water Power Co., [92 Wn. 574, 159 P. 791 (1916)]; Mellon v. Goodyear, 277 U.S. 335, 48 S.Ct. 541, 72 L.Ed. 906 [(1928)]); by a judgment in his favor rendered during his lifetime (Littlewood v. Mayor, etc., of N. Y., 89 N.Y. 24, 42 Am. Rep. 271 [(1882)]; Hecht v. Ohio & Mississippi Ry. Co., 132 Ind. 507, 32 N.E. 302 [(1892)]); by the failure of the deceased to bring an action for injuries within the period of limitation (Flynn v. New York, N.H. & H. R. Co., 283 U.S. 53, 51 S.Ct. 357, 75 L.Ed. 837 [(1931)]). In this latter class falls the case of Calhoun v. Washington Veneer Co., [170 Wn. 152, 159-60, 15 P.2d 943 (1932)].

Grant, 181 Wn. at 580-81 (emphasis added) (additional citations omitted). Applying Calhoun, the Court concluded that the statute of limitations did not bar the wrongful death claim because the decedent had timely filed his personal injury action and that action was still pending at the time of his death:

The instant case presents an entirely different problem [than Calhoun]. Here, Grant brought his action for personal injuries within the time prescribed by the statute of limitations. While he died more than three years after his cause of action accrued, he left a valid subsisting cause of action. Under these circumstances, we think there is no question but that the action for wrongful death can be maintained.

Id. at 582 (citations omitted). Thus, this Court expressly applied the *Calhoun* rule to the *Grant* facts to reach its holding.

This Court subsequently re-affirmed *Calhoun* and *Grant* in *Johnson v. Ottomeier*, 45 Wn.2d 419, 422-23, 275 P.2d 723 (1954). In that case, this Court held that the exclusionary rule barring spouses from suing each other for a tort committed during the marriage did not apply to a wrongful death action brought by a wife's personal representative on behalf of the children against the estate of her husband who had murdered her and then committed suicide. *Id.* at 420-21. In doing so, this Court discussed other recognized circumstances in which a wrongful death claim could not be maintained:

The second category of cases in which this general rule of exclusion has been applied involves situations in which, after receiving the injuries which later resulted in death, the decedent pursued a course of conduct which makes it inequitable to recognize a cause of action for wrongful death. Among such cases are Brodie v. Washington Water Power Co., 92 Wn. 574, 159 P. 791, where decedent gave an effective release and satisfaction; and Calhoun v. Washington v. Veneer Co., 170 Wn. 152, 15 P.2d 943, as interpreted in Grant v. Fisher Flouring Mills Co., 181 Wn. 576, 44 P.2d 193, where the statute of limitations had run prior to decedent's death.

Id. at 422-23 (emphasis added).⁵ This Court held that there was no statutory language or principle of law or equity that "warrants the

⁵ This Court in *Johnson* further explained that there are circumstances in which the decedent's conduct *at the time* of the alleged tort preclude a wrongful death cause of action from accruing even though the decedent's injuries later resulted in death. *Johnson*, 45 Wn.2d at 422-23 (citing, *inter alia*, *Hart v. Geysel*, 159 Wn. 632, 294 P. 570 (1930) (decedent consented to prize fight); *Ryan v. Poole*, 182 Wn. 532, 536, 47 P.2d 981 (1935) (decedent injured while engaged in unlawful and criminal acts)). These cases further establish that the wrongful death action is derivative of the personal injury action in the

recognition of the wife's personal disability to sue her husband as a defense against her personal representative's action for wrongful death."

Id at 423-24. Thus, the Johnson Court re-affirmed that Calhoun and

Grant remained good law.

This instant case presents nothing more than a straightforward application of *Calhoun*, *Grant*, and *Johnson*.⁶ Like *Calhoun* but unlike *Grant*, the Decedent (as well as Petitioner) here failed to bring a personal injury action against Respondents within the three-year statute of limitations.⁷ Because the statute of limitations expired during Decedent's lifetime, there was "no subsisting cause of action in the deceased" at time

sense that they are based on the same alleged injury and wrongful action and that the decedent's conduct may extinguish or diminish the statutory beneficiaries' right to recover. See, e.g., Upchurch v. Hubbard, 29 Wn.2d 559, 564, 188 P.2d 82 (1947) ("A limitation upon such independently created right, recognized by this court and elsewhere generally, is that the wrongful act or default must be of such character as would have entitled the injured person to maintain an action and recover damages, had not death ensued; stated conversely, if the deceased never had a cause of action, no right of action accrues under the wrongful death statute."); Ginochio v. Hesston Corp., 46 Wn. App. 843, 845, 846, 733 P.2d 551, 553 (1987) (citing Washington State Senate Select Comm. on Tort & Prod. Liab. Reform, Final Report 1981, at 48, with respect to diminishment of derivative wrongful death claim based on decedent's contributory fault).

⁶ As *Grant* and *Johnson* demonstrate, Washington law recognizes several circumstances in which conduct by a decedent affects potential wrongful death claims brought on behalf of the heirs. Washington law recognizes that if the decedent executes a release in his or her personal injury action, the release bars any subsequent wrongful death action by the personal representative and the statutory beneficiaries based on the same injuries. *Grant*, 181 Wn. at 580-81 (citing *Brodie v. Washington Water Power Co.*, 92 Wn. 574, 159 P. 791 (1916)). Similarly, a verdict in a Decedent's personal injury action subsequently bars a wrongful death action by the personal representative and the statutory beneficiaries for the same injuries. *Id.* There is no logical reason to treat an expired statute of limitations any differently.

⁷ Again, Petitioner could have brought her own independent claim either in her parents' 1999 Lawsuit or, if that was not feasible, in her own action. *Ueland v. Reynolds Metals Co.*, 103 Wn.2d 131, 140-141, 691 P.2d 190 (1984).

of his death. *Grant*, 181 Wn. at 580-81. As a result, Petitioner has no viable cause of action under the wrongful death statute. *Id.*; *Calhoun*, 170 Wn. at 159-60.

2. Appellant Has Not Cited Any Washington Appellate Decisions That Actually Conflict With Calhoun, Grant, and Johnson.

Petitioner cannot identify a single Washington appellate decision that conflicts with the rule set forth in *Grant*, *Calhoun*, and *Johnson*.

Petitioner cites several cases stating that a wrongful death action is a distinct cause of action and that a personal representative cannot bring a wrongful death action until it accrues upon the decedent's death, but so did *Grant* and *Calhoun*. Yet, as this Court further explained in *Grant*, that rule was "subject to a well-recognized limitation" that the deceased must have a viable cause of action at the time of death, *Grant*, 181 Wn. at 580-81, and there are circumstances where "the decedent pursued a course of conduct which makes it *inequitable* to recognize a cause of action for wrongful death," such allowing the statute of limitations to run during his or her lifetime or giving an effective release, *Johnson*, 45 Wn.2d at 422-23. Petitioner cannot cite any Washington appellate decision that actually

⁸ Grant, 181 Wn. at 580-81 ("The action for wrongful death, under section 183, Rem. Rev. Stat., is a distinct and separate action from the survival action, under section 194. In accord with the great weight of authority, this court has held that the action accrues at the time of death, and that the statute of limitations then begins to run."); Calhoun, 170 Wn. at 159-60 (stating that the personal representative's claims for wrongful death, "of

conflicts with *Grant*, *Calhoun*, or *Johnson*. Moreover, Petitioner misses the bigger point that the Court of Appeals implicitly recognized: a wrongful death action does not accrue following every death; rather, "a decedent's inaction as to his claims during his lifetime can preempt the accrual of a personal representative's wrongful death cause of action." Decision at 5.

Petitioner cites Wills v. Kirkpatrick, 56 Wn. App. 757, 785 P.2d 834 (1990), but Wills is nothing more than an application of Grant because, like Grant but unlike Calhoun (or this case), the Wills decedent had a viable cause of action for personal injuries at the time of death. In Wills, the decedent died from a heart condition three weeks after her doctor had failed to diagnose it during her last medical appointment. Id. at 758-59. Like Grant but unlike Calhoun (or this case), there was no dispute that the decedent had a viable cause of action at the time of her death, given that the applicable statute of limitations was three years yet she had died only a matter of weeks after the doctor's allegedly negligent misdiagnosis. Id. at 759. Under the circumstances, the court held the claim was timely because the three-year statute of limitations on the wrongful death action began to run at death. Id. at 763. This is no different than Grant in which the decedent had a viable cause of action at

⁹ Petitioner makes no attempt to explain how *Wills*, a Court of Appeals decision, can create a conflict with the Supreme Court's holdings in *Calhoun* and *Grant*.

death because he had timely filed his pending personal injury action within the three-year statute of limitations. Thus, the "well-recognized limitation" that "at the time of death there must be a subsisting cause of action in the deceased" was satisfied in both *Wills* and *Grant*, but not in *Calhoun. Grant*, 181 Wn. at 580-81. Accordingly, there is no conflict.

The Court of Appeals also properly explained why a federal judge's order granting a motion to remand does not apply here. Decision at 13-14 & n.5 (discussing *Barabin v. Asten Johnson, Inc.*, 2014 WL 2938457 (W.D. Wash. June 30, 2014)). As a preliminary matter, the order is not a Washington appellate court decision and has no binding authority. Moreover, the order concerned a completely different issue – fraudulent joinder – with a much stricter legal standard in which remand is presumed unless the defendants meet their heavy burden by showing through "clear and convincing evidence" that there is no "doubt" that the complaint "obviously fails" to state a claim and that remand is required if there is any "possibility that a state court would find that the complaint states a cause of action." Such a strict standard has no bearing on the summary judgment standard at issue here. In fact, the *Barabin* order primarily relies upon the possibility that the statute of limitations may have been tolled under the discovery rule, as recognized by *White v. Johns-Manville Corp.*,

¹⁰ Barabin, slip op. at 4.

103 Wn.2d 344, 693 P.2d 687 (1985).¹¹ The application of the discovery rule, however, is not an issue in this appeal, and there is no evidence in the summary judgment record to support such a claim. Simply put, there is no conflict among Washington appellate decisions.

B. This Appeal Presents No Issues of Significant Public Importance.

Petitioner has not shown how a straightforward application of long-standing Supreme Court precedent presents an issue of significant public importance. Petitioner, her father, and her mother had the opportunity during her father's lifetime to bring an action against Respondents based on the same exposure and same injuries as alleged here. In fact, her parents did exactly that by filing the 1999 Lawsuit against Respondent ACL and other defendants. Washington law recognizes that children may bring their own "independent cause of action" for damages based on injuries to a parent, 12 so Petitioner had the right to bring a claim for damages that she suffered as a result of her

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